THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW  
COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

---

Docket No. 2014-000246

---

South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs,.....Respondent,

v.

Entera Holdings, LLC and  
Entera Work Comp Solutions, LLC, .....Appellants.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

David Hill Keller  
Constangy Brooks & Smith, LLP  
105 N. Spring Street Suite 105  
Greenville, South Carolina 29201

**RECEIVED**

MAY 12 2014

**SC Court of Appeals**

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

ISSUE I

SERVICE OF THE ORIGINAL DOCUMENT IN THIS MATTER HAS NEVER BEEN COMPLETED

ISSUE II

THE FINAL "STAFF" DETERMINATION IS NOT A CONTESTED CASE UNDER THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT

ISSUE III

THE LETTER OF AUGUST 21 DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A FINAL AGENCY DECISION

ISSUE IV

THAT THE ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT RECEIVED ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE LETTER ON AUGUST 29, 2013

ISSUE V

AFTER ENTERA FILED IT'S RESPONSE TO THE AGENCY'S MOTION TO DISMISS, THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE ILLEGALLY ALLOWED THE RECORD TO BE SUPPLEMENTED

## Statement of the Case

This matter comes before the court upon the petition of defendant, Entera Holdings, LLC and Entera Work Comp Solutions, LLC (hereinafter Entera) regarding the dismissal of Entera's complaint and request for hearing before the Administrative Law Court.

The original letter from the Department of Consumer Affairs dated August, 21, 2013 was received by the undersigned on August 29, 2013. The 30<sup>th</sup> day after receipt was September 28, 2013, however, this was Saturday and pursuant to the rules of the Administrative Law Court, the request for hearing was not due until Monday, September 30<sup>th</sup>. On Monday, September 30<sup>th</sup> Entera filed a petition for hearing with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court.

Subsequently, the Department of Consumer Affairs (hereinafter Department) filed a petition for dismissal of the petition for hearing on the grounds that the same was not timely. In that petition the Department submitted a receipt from Federal Express that the letter in question was delivered to the Greenville, South Carolina office of Federal Express on Friday, August 23, 2013. After Entera filed its return to the motion the Department was allowed to supplement its motion with an addition receipt allegedly showing the document was received by an individual at the law offices of the undersigned who is no longer employed. However, the undersigned did not receive actual notice of the letter of the Department until August 29, 2013, as noted above.

The letter sent to Entera and the undersigned by the Department specifically states that in order to comply with the determination in the letter, it was necessary to contact the department, not the Administrative Law Court, within 30 days after receipt of the letter.

Entera actually complied with the final paragraph of the order with a formal objection on September 6, 2013, well within the 30 days mandated by the terms of the letter itself.

The matter was then assigned to the Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge, who dismissed the request for hearing on November 26, 2013. Entera then timely filed a motion for reconsideration which Judge Durden failed to respond to or address. Therefore, pursuant to the Rules of the Administrative Law Court her order became a final order on January 5, 2014. Entera then timely appealed to the Court of Appeals.

## **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

### **ISSUE I**

#### **SERVICE OF THE ORIGINAL DOCUMENT IN THIS MATTER HAS NEVER BEEN COMPLETED**

The South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs purports to have served upon the parties a letter which they have deemed to be a “final agency decision.” However, pursuant to the Rules of Procedure, service has never been completed at all.

The document now on appeal, a letter dated August 21, 2013 was purportedly served on the parties by Federal Express. There is no provision in the Rules of the Administrative Law Court for such a procedure. The rules require that the matter be delivered directly into the hands of the attorney or that they be served by US Mail only. Rule 3, South Carolina Administrative Law Court Rules specifically provides for service by US Mail or service by personal delivery only.

Rule 5 specifically states “Service shall be made by delivery, by mail to the last known address, or as otherwise approved by the Court through administrative order.

Service is deemed complete upon mailing. Service that complies with rule 5(b)(1) SCRPC, also shall satisfy this rule.” Rule 5 states that the service must be made by delivering a copy directly to the attorney or by *mailing* the same via United States Postal Service. Service is not complete until one of those two items has occurred. It is therefore submitted that the letter which purports to be a final agency determination has never properly been served and service had never been accomplished.

## ISSUE II

### THE FINAL “STAFF” DETERMINATION IS NOT A CONTESTED CASE UNDER THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT

South Carolina Code of Laws Annotated §1-23-505 defines “contested cases” before the Administrative Law Court. A contested case may only be heard by the Administrative Law Court after the agency has afforded the parties “an opportunity for hearing.” In this case no hearing has been held.

The undersigned specifically requested a meeting with the agency prior to the issuance of the agency determination and this was declined (Letter and Email). Because no hearing was ever held the Administrative Law Court actually lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the matter. Further, while the letter of August 21, 2013 maybe a “final staff decision” it is not a final “agency decision” as defined by Rule 11 South Carolina Administrative Law Court Rules. As such, the Administrative Law Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the entire process.

## ISSUE III

### THE LETTER OF AUGUST 21 DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A FINAL AGENCY DECISION

As noted above the letter itself does not state that it is a “final agency decision” as required by the rules. Further, the deputy director of the agency, Elliot F. Elam, Jr. added

a “caveat” to the agency decision, in which he made clear the letter was not a final agency decision if a response was made. He stated “if you fail to respond to this decision within thirty (30) days of your receipt of this letter the department will provide notice of this decision to you client company absence showing you have done so.” (Letter) The defendants, did in fact write Mr. Elam within thirty days after the date of the letter, as directed, providing him a response to the decision, to which he failed to respond (Letter). Consequently by the addition of the additional language Mr. Elam, himself, advised the parties the letter was not a “final agency decision.”(Letter) Mr. Elam altered the requirements stated earlier in the letter by stating that defendants were required to contact the agency, not the Administrative Law Court within thirty days. Therefore the Administrative Law Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the entire process.

#### ISSUE IV

#### THAT THE ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT RECEIVED ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE LETTER ON AUGUST 29, 2013

The agency has provided a Federal Express receipt showing the item was delivered to Federal Express on August 22, 2013. It indicates that it was “delivered” at 4:06 p.m. on Friday, August 23, 2013. The notice does not indicate where it was delivered or to whom it was delivered. The undersigned can merely state that he was out of the office on Friday, August 23. The undersigned’s calendar for the week of August 26<sup>th</sup> indicates numerous events, many of which were out of the office. According to the records of the undersigned actual notice of the letter was received on August 29, 2013. This would have made the appeal due on August 28, 2013 which was a Saturday. The appeal was, therefore, filed on the 30<sup>th</sup>, which was the next business day after the thirty days had run. Since actual notice was clearly received by the undersigned on August 29

and the agency failed to advise where and how the document was purportedly delivered the provisions of Rule 11 South Carolina Administrative Law Court Rules have been satisfied. Further, Rule 11 clearly contemplates the issue before the court at this time by allowing a period of ninety days for appeal.

#### **ISSUE V**

#### **AFTER ENTERA FILED IT'S RESPONSE TO THE AGENCY'S MOTION TO DISMISS, THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE ILLEGALLY ALLOWED THE RECORD TO BE SUPPLEMENTED**

After the filing of the Entera's response to the motion to dismiss the Administrative Law Court allowed the Department to supplement it's initial filing in the matter. There is not procedure which allows the same. Rule 19, South Carolina Administrative Law Court Rules, allows for a response but does not allow for the inclusion of additional evidence or matters. As such the department should not have been allowed to submit supplemental filings.

#### **CONCLUSION**

*It is therefore respectfully submitted* that there has been a complete failure of service in this matter and that this case should be dismissed and returned to the agency.

*It is further submitted* that the letter dated August 21, 2013 was not a final agency decision as contemplated by the rules call particularly in light of the alteration of the language by the agency in the final paragraph in this letter and, therefore Entera's letter of September 6, 2013 told all further action in the matter.

*It is further submitted* that a request for hearing was timely filed with the Administrative Law Court and if the Court does not find that the agency lacks subject

matter jurisdiction due to failure of service, the matter should be remanded to the Administrative Law Court for an actual hearing/trial.