RECEIVED

AUG 22 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000246

South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs.....Respondent,

v.

Entera Holdings, LLC, and Entera Work Compensation Solutions, LLC.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

Hana P. Williamson
J. Matthew Aronson
S.C. Department of Consumer Affairs
P.O. Box 5757
Columbia, S.C. 29250-5757
(803) 734-4189

Attorneys for Respondent
Department of Consumer Affairs

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Was the service of the Department's final agency decision governed by the Rules of Procedure for the South Carolina Administrative Law Court?
- II. Did the Appellant timely file a request for a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court?
- III. Was the Department's decision a final agency decision?
- IV. Did the Administrative Law Court err when it accepted the Department's Reply to Entera's Return to Motion to Dismiss?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court on the Petition for Judicial Review filed by Entera Holdings, LLC and Entera Work Comp Solutions, LLC (collectively “Entera” or “Appellant”). The appeal challenges the Order of the Administrative Law Court (ALC) dismissing Entera’s request for a contested case hearing on a final agency decision of the Department of Consumer Affairs (“Department” or “Respondent”). (R. pp. 1-3). The final agency decision cited Entera for operating as a Professional Employer Organization (PEO) without a license. (R. pp. 14-20).

As documented in Federal Express shipping labels and online tracking histories, the Department’s decision dated August 21, 2013 was received separately by both Entera and its outside counsel on Friday August 23, 2013. (R. pp. 24-27, 32). Entera mailed its request for a contested case at the ALC on September 30, 2013. (R. pp. 4-6). On October 22, 2013, the Department filed a Motion to Dismiss with the ALC. (R. pp. 21-23). Entera filed its Response to the motion on November 1, 2013. (R. pp. 28-31). The Department received a copy of the Response by U.S. Mail on November 4, 2013. On November 8, the Department filed a Reply to Entera’s Response on November 8, 2013. (R. pp. 33-37). On November 26, 2013, Judge Durden issued an Order of Dismissal. (R. pp. 1-3). On December 6, 2013, Entera filed a request for reconsideration. (R. pp. 38-39). That request was deemed denied by SCALC Rule 29(D)(4) when the court declined to issue a ruling on the request. Entera filed its Notice of Appeal with this Court on February 4, 2014.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DO NOT GOVERN THE DEPARTMENT'S SERVICE OF ITS FINAL AGENCY DECISION.

In its Brief, Entera argues that the service of Department's decision in this matter was not proper, claiming that Administrative Law Court Rule 3 specifically provides for service by mail or service by personal delivery only. Initially, and most importantly, Entera has cited no authority for the proposition that the service of process provisions of the Administrative Law Court govern the service of an order by an agency upon a person found by the agency to be in violation of its regulatory statutes and/or regulations. The Department was serving its decision, not initiating a proceeding at the Administrative Law Court. Therefore, the Rule does not apply. Beyond that, even if Rule 3 did apply to an agency's service of its order, Rule 3 governs the computation of time, not the method for service. Therefore, contrary to Entera's argument in its Brief, Rule 3 does not specifically provide for service by mail or service by personal delivery only.

Entera also argues that the provisions of SCALC Rule 5 would render the Department's service of its order incomplete. As before, and most importantly, Entera has cited no authority for the proposition that the service of process provisions of the ALC Rules govern the service of an order by an agency upon a person found by the

agency to be in violation of its regulatory statutes and/or regulations. Rule 5 provides that any document, pleading, motion, brief or memorandum or other paper filed with the Court shall be served upon all parties to the proceeding. When the Department issued its order, there was no proceeding before the ALC, and there was no requirement to file it with the ALC. Therefore, the Rule does not apply.

Beyond that, even if Rule 5 did apply to an agency's service of its order, the rule also provides that service that complies with Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCF, also shall satisfy this Rule. Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCF provides that service may be made by:

.....delivering a copy to him or by mailing it to him at his last known address or, if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of court. Delivery of a copy within this rule means: handing it to the attorney or to the party; or leaving it at his office with his clerk or other person in charge thereof; or, if there be no one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving a copy at his dwelling place or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein.

The Department's order was delivered to both Entera and its outside counsel by Federal Express, and as the attachments to the Department's Motion to Dismiss show, was accepted and signed for at both locations. (R. pp. 24-27). Further support for this method of delivery is found in Rule 4 (d)(9), SCRCF which provides for service by a commercial delivery service.

II.

THE APPELLANT FAILED TO TIMELY FILE A REQUEST FOR A CONTESTED CASE HEARING BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT.

Administrative Law Court Rule 11 (C) provides that unless otherwise provided by statute, a request for a contested case must be filed and served within thirty (30) days after actual or constructive notice of the agency's determination. Failure to file the request within that time frame divests the ALC of jurisdiction to hear a contested case. *Wedgfield Plantation Owners Association v. SCDHEC*, Docket No. 04-ALJ-07-0351-CC, citing *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 337 S.E.2d 206 (1985); and *Botany Bay Marina v. Townsend*, 296 S.C. 330, 372 S.E.2d 584 (1988). Furthermore, appeal deadlines are absolute and the ALC has no authority to expand the time in which the request for a contested case hearing must be filed. *Id.* citing *Mears v. Mears*, and *Clark v. SCDHEC*, Docket No. 98-ALJ-0498-CC; *Robinson v. SCDHEC*, Docket No. 02-ALJ-07-0034-CC; *Young v. Charleston County Assessor*, Docket No. 04-ALJ-17-0305-CC; *Charleston County Assessor v. Gladsky*, Docket No. 01-ALJ-17-0386-CC; and *The Beach Company, Inc. v. SCDHEC*, Docket No. 04-ALJ-07-0199-CC.

In the instant case, as documented in Federal Express shipping labels and online tracking histories, the Department's order was received separately by both Entera and its outside counsel on Friday August 23, 2013, and not on August 29, 2013, as alleged by Entera. (R. pp. 24-27). Therefore, Entera received actual notice of the order on August 23, 2013 and was required to file with the ALC by Monday September 23, 2013. Entera did not mail its request for a contested case until September 30, 2013, after the deadline.

(R. pp. 4-6).

Entera argues that it did not receive actual notice of the Department's order until August 29, 2013, six days after the Federal Express tracking receipt showed delivery to both Entera and its outside counsel. (R. pp. 24-27). The Department served the order on both Entera's office in Atlanta and to Mr. Keller's office in Greenville, because although Mr. Keller had represented Entera in prior discussions with the agency, we did not know for a fact that Mr. Keller would handle a request for a contested case. In its Brief, Entera admits that the Federal Express tracking receipt shows delivery on Friday August 23, but argues that the receipt does not indicate where it was delivered or to whom it was delivered. However, the tracking receipt for Mr. Keller, attached to the Department's Motion to Dismiss, clearly shows that the package was delivered to **Receptionist/Front Desk** and was signed for by **C. Winstead**. (R. p. 25). The tracking receipt for Mr. Fain at Entera shows that the package was delivered on August 23 to **Receptionist/Front Desk** and signed for by **M. Brown**. (R. p. 27). Both Entera and its outside counsel had constructive and actual notice of the Department's order on August 23, 2013. The fact that Mr. Keller did not look at it until August 29 does not extend Entera's time to request a contested case pursuant to Rule 11 (C).

III.

THE DEPARTMENT'S DECISION DATED AUGUST 21, 2013 WAS A FINAL AGENCY DECISION.

In its Brief, Entera further argues that the Department's order of August 21, 2013 is not a final agency decision, despite the fact that the words "**FINAL AGENCY DECISION**" are noted at the top of the first page. (R. p. 14). The basis of this claim is a single instance on page 6 of the decision which uses the phrase "final staff decision." (R. p. 19). However, there is nothing in the order, or in South Carolina law, to indicate that there is any further process before the agency for an aggrieved party after a staff finding; the staff finding is the agency finding. There are no contested hearings before the Department. The order clearly states that if Entera disagreed with the findings, its remedy was to request a contested case before the ALC. The order further cites the relevant provisions of the ALC rules that apply, with instructions how to request a contested case hearing. Furthermore, contrary to Entera's argument, the final paragraph of the decision did not, in any way, alter the process set forth in the order. Informing a party that the Department will directly give notice of the decision to its client companies is nothing more than an incentive not to ignore the order by failing to ask for a contested case or to make some other attempt to settle the matter through filing a license application and paying a negotiated administrative penalty. It does not change the other terms of the order.

Entera also argues in its Brief that the Department's determination is not a "contested case" under the Administrative Procedures Act citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-505 (Supp. 2013). Section 1-23-505 (3) defines a contested case as a proceeding

including, but not restricted to, ratemaking, price fixing, and licensing, in which the legal rights, duties, or privileges of a party are required by law or by Article I, Section 22, Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, to be determined by an agency or the Administrative Law Court after an opportunity for hearing. Any contested case hearing concerning a matter before the Department is held before the Administrative Law Court, not the agency. See, S.C. Code Ann. 37-6-414 (supp. 2013). There are no contested hearings before the Department. Entera's argument that a contested hearing before the agency was required before there could be a contested hearing before the ALC is confusing at best, and completely without merit.

IV.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY ACCEPTED THE DEPARTMENT'S REPLY TO ENTERA'S RESPONSE TO THE MOTION TO DISMISS.

In its Brief, Entera argues that the Administrative Law Court erred by allowing the Department to supplement its initial filing citing SCALC Rule 19. As noted, by Entera, Rule 19 clearly allows a reply to be filed by a party which has made a motion. The Department filed a reply as allowed for in the rule. It did not "supplement" its original filing. Entera also argues that Rule 19 "does not allow for the inclusion of additional evidence or matters" in a reply. Entera does not specify what evidence or additional matters it is referring to. A cursory examination of the Department's reply will show that it is entirely legal arguments addressing Entera's response to the motion

to dismiss. There are no attachments or anything that could remotely be considered evidence.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Department asks this Court to affirm the order of the Administrative Law Court.